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Origin Description

F. W. Wheeler and Company of Bay Clty, Mlchlgan, built hull number
93 for Mitchell and Company of Cleveland, Ohio, in 1893. - .
Officially registered as William.H. ggatw;ek U.S. number 81&27,
the vessel was a steamer intended for use in the bulk freight
trade. The vessel was sold in succession to the Western Transit
Company (1894), Mitchell and Company (1895-97), Drake and Mayhan,
‘"Graham and Morten, Canada-Atlantic Transit Company (Between 1897
and 1902) Chicago and Duluth Transportation Company (1902~ 1914),
finally remaining with the Great Lakes Transportation Company. from
1914 until her loss in 1924, In 1914 she was re-registered
Canadian, number 1226660, and her name changed to Minnekahta later,
that year she was renamed Glenlyon.

Constructed of steel from keel to rail, the vessel was 328-feet
long, 42-feet 6-inches in beam, 20- feet 6-inches in depth with her

~net tonnage 1,664, As Gratwick the vessel had three masts (fore,
main, and mlzzen) and as Glenlyon her main mast was removed. It
was the third largest vessel to come out of the Wheeler Yards in
1893 and was an exact duplicate of W, H., Gilbert built in 1892.
Her wooden horseshoe shaped pilothouse sat forward atop a raised
forcastle and officers' quarters. With the crew's quarters in a
wooden deckhouse, aft, below a large single stack. Of the four
steel freighters built in 1893 in the Wheeler yards, the designs
of three were influenced by the loss of Western Reserve. H.A.
Hawgood explained the changes:

~+e.sengines will be placed amidships, with 136
feet of shaft, and will be so located that we
will have six hatches forward and four aft,
with one trimming hatch between engine and
‘boiler houses. The hatches are laid off
with reference to 24 feet centers, the engine
and boilers taking up space of two hatches.
In this way we will have three-fifths of our
cargo forward and two-fifths aft...the great
aim is...to insure safety when running llght

(Marine Review, December 15, 1892),

Glenlyon, however, was the exception; she was constructed using
the traditional engine and hatch arrangement with engines in the
stern and hatches amidships. The singlé screw steamer was powered
by a triple expansion (20", 32", 54" diameter cylinders by 42%

136




" Jrm No. 10-300a

v. 10-74)

1
i

"NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 2

stroke) steam engine built by Wheeler. Gratwick (Glenlyon) was
the first vessel to have Wheeler-built engines. Her original
twin-scotch boilers, 144-inch diameter and 131-inches long, were
built at Wilkes Brothers Boiler Works in Saginaw, Michigan. She
was reboilered in 1908 with similar boilers built in Cleveland, by
the American Shipbuilding Company. As Glenlyon the vessel's hull
was painted light blue, white cabins, and had a red stack with a

black top.

There is no site number currently assigne e
either by the park or the State of Michigan. Water
visibility around the site varies up to 50 feet.

The major fields of wreckage la

large sections of

present,

A portion of the fantail clearly showing the cant frames, the
intact rudder, spare propeller blades and a capstan are lying in
Several sections of side hull and a 70-foot
lating with mooring bits still attached are
The 1,200 hp triple expansion steam engine
is intact an y on its side; the propeller shaft, thrust
bearing and prop are still articulated to the engine. The engine
is still attached to the bottom hull and construction details are
visible. A large section of side hull up to the scuppers, with
portholes in place and capable of opening and closing, is present
and lying adjacent to the engine. One of the boilers is broken
and scattered with pieces of corrugated furnace, fire tubes, grate
bars, furnace doors and boiler plating present, The second boiler
is intact, the only damage being loss of outside boiler plating

and a missing furnace door.
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The largest sections of side hull the turn of the bilge to
the main geck ore (NN
engine. Derricks, e mast, a large intact portion of the bow
- with two anchors and associated deck winches, and a part of the

I forward deckhouse are present. Smaller items such as gauges, door

keys, and glass still in the portholes suggest the presence of
numerous portable artifacts scattered throughout the wreckage.

Post-Depositional Impacts: Storms and ice pack during the winter
ﬁ of 1924 broke the vessel apart and subsequent thick ice floes

could have resulted in some flattening or movement of the
sport divers

The wreck remains

H
the wreck site 1s open to the full force of heavy weather from the
south, west and east. Glenlyon is the 8th (of the 10 wrecks) most
frequently visited wreck on the island (Stinson 1980:15). The
National Park Service Submerged Cultural Resources Unitbriefly
visited the site in June, 1982, to evaluate it for future
II research. In June, 1983, the team spent 5 days obtaining baseline

information suitable for a sketch map of the site and
photodocumenting major features. Followup work at the site is
planned for the 1984 field season. No other archeological

!! activities have taken place at the site.

@} Description_of Loss - _The Wreck Event

Glenlyon departed Fort William (now Thunder Bay), Ontario,
downbound to Port Colborne early in the morning on Thursday,
October 30, 1924, loaded with 145,000 bushels of wheat. 'Outside
the shelter of Thunder Bay a severe lake storm caused Captain
William Taylor to alter his course and move into the lee of the
Welcome Islands. Glenlyon stayed behind the islands until late in
the day, Friday, October 21, when the winds died down. Before
midnight on the 31st the vessel cleared Passage Island Channel,

' off the eastern end of Isle Royale, heading toward Sault St.

Marie. Once passed the channel Captain Taylor realized that he
had set out during a lull in the storm as the vessel met 40 mph

. gale winds and 8-foot seas. Glenlyon was brought around and a
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course was set

1 e wind o er stern q e
starboard turn was ordered forcing the vessel into the trough of

the waves. It was while the vessel was wallowing in_the trough
and during another course change that the vessel*
m A large hole in her hu

floode er engine room and the pounding she received eventually

M] broke her back. Captain Taylor ordered the sea cocks opened to
B T ——
h An S0S was sent out an enlinnie an

Glensannox, sister ships of Glenlyon, and the wireless station at
Port Arthur picked up the signal. The sister ships arrived at the
scene early on Saturday, November 1, but were forced to wait a

l distance off shore until the weather calmed before rendering any

assistance. During the confusion of stranding two of Glenlyon's
crewmembers abandoned ship in a lifeboat; they were picked up a
day later by the Coast Guard. By 2 o'clock that afternoon the
remaining crew had been transferred to Glenlinnie then to
Glensannox for return down lake.

The 81-foot salvage tug Strathmore was sent out by the Dominion
l Towing and Salvage Company at 6 am on Saturday morning. Later

that same day the tug James_Whalen, towing the barges Empire and

Green River departed for the wreck site. By Sunday, November 2,
l! the two barges had lightered 10,000 bushels of Glenlyon's wheat
o cargo; further salvage efforts continued until mid-November with

most of the wheat cargo eventually being saved.

h} The well known Great Lakes Reid wreckers bid on the el after
she had been declared a loss. Glenlyon remained

through the winter of 1924-25 with no further salvage attempts
‘"being made. - In the spring when the Reid wreckers returned  to the.
site, the vessel had dlsappeared breaking up and slipping below
the water.
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-7 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Significance Summary

Glenlvon was a steel bulk freighter used on the Lakes between 1893
and 1924. The vessel is significant because: 1) it is
representative of the continuum of steel bulk freighter ‘
development and construction in the 1890s; 2) it is an example of
a transitional vessel size; 3) study of this vessel is likely to
yield significant information on the details of U.3. bulk
freighter construction of the period; 4) within the Isle Royale
bulk freighter shipwreck population the vessel is intermediate
l both in terms of size and age which is not otherwise represented
and together with the other bulk freighters at Isle Royale
demonstrates the early development of Great Lakes bulk freighters;
and 5) within the total shipwreck population of Lake Superior
Glenlyon is the only known remaining example of this size and
class of vessel available for study.

Supporting Data

! Glenlyon is significant because it is representative of the early
= class of steel-hulled bulk freighter construction and development
B on the Great Lakes. The size of vessels traveling between the
‘l Lakes was tied to major channel, lock and canal size and depth; as
- size and depth were increased shipbuilders quickly constructed
vessels capable of carrying maximum payloads while still passing
through the interconnecting waterways. The first vessels passing
through the Welland Canal in 1829 were limited to a very shallow
draft by the 8-foot depth of the canal, Improvements lagged until
1867 when the channel was deepened to 8 1/2-feet. When the first
of the true bulk carriers was launched in 1869, the wooden
211-foot, 1,200 ton carrying capacity R._J. Hackett was limited in
draft to less than the 11 1/2-foot depth of the Welland. The
' larger 287-foot, 3,000 ton carrying capacity, iron-hulled Onoko
was launched in 1882, but it too was still limited to a 10-foot
draft. In 1886 the first steel bulk carrier on the Lakes was the

310-foot Spokane. At just over 3,000 tons carr¥ing ca acit{ she
' was able To take advantage of the increased depth of the We jand
and had a 14-foot draft. Just 7 years later the 328-foot, 3,866
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ton carrying capacity Glenlyon was launched but she was still
limited to a 14-foot maximum draft by the Welland. Two years
later, in 1895, Glenlyon was surpassed when the 400-foot, 5,800
ton carrying capacity Victory was launched. It was not until 1899
that vessels of deeper draft (18-feet) were able to pass through
the Welland Canal. The growth of bulk freighters in between
channel improvements was clearly directed toward the development
of longer vessels with greater carrying capacities, the size and
capacity of Glenlyon reflects this developmental pattern.

Although Glenlyon exhibited the assets of the rapidly growing bulk
freighters of her day pushing the limits of length and tonnage,
her more traditional roots were evident by the retention of the
traditional wooden horseshoe shaped pilothouse and fore and mizZen
masts.

Glenlyon is significant because it is an example of a transitional
vessel size which moved very quickly from the first 310-foot steel
bulk carrier in 1886 (Spokane) to the first 400-foot bulk
freighter in 1895 (Victory), a period of only 9 years (Ericson
1968:6). The construction techniques employed on bulk carriers
changed rapidly over time, an example is frame spacing. The
standard structural arrangement of wooden bulk carriers called for
22-~-inch frame spacing with beams and stanchions retained for
structural purposes (True 1956:30). The composite (iron and wood)
spar deck beam spacing, and the retention of centerline hold
stanchions (True 1956:31). Iron- and steel-hulled bulk carriers
built between 1882 and 1904 generally used 24-inch frame spacing;
hold beams were spaced at 8-feet after 1895 (True 1956:32). The
structural arrangement of Glenlyon was not made clear in
contemporary accounts; the use of center line hold stanchions and
narrowly spaced main deck beams like Lewiston, and either 20-inch
or 24-inch frame spacing was highly likely. On site examination
by the Submerged Cultural Resources Unit in June, 1983, revealed
beams on 4-foot centers., Centerhold stantions were retained for
structural support; placed under each beam they too were on 4-foot
centers.

Bottom hull construction of steel bulk carriers built between 1882
and 1910 was commonly based upon the channel frame system, i.e.,
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floors of heavy channels over which side keelsons were fitted, in
direct imitation of wooden construction (True 1956:32). Many of
the early steel freighters had single bottom construction,
although by 1890 double bottomed hulls were gaining in popularity
(True 1956:32). Glenlyon's floors were not channels, rather they
were contructed of web plates with reverse frames over which were
placed side keelsons of alternating continuous reverse bars and
ordinary angle bars forming a channel.

Between 1911 and 1914, the vessel was used as a passenger package
freighter; in 1914 she was reintroduced to the grain and coal
trade. Original plans for Glenlyon called for fully planked main
and plated spar decks. On site examination did not reveal the
presence of any wood planking for the main deck, arousing
speculation that the decking may have been removed when she was
returned to the bulk freight trade. Continued study of the vessel
is likely to yield significant data on the details of transitional
bulk carrier construction just prior to the turn of the century.
Comparative analysis of this vessel with the larger and more
recent steel bulk carriers Congdon and Emperor may contribute
significant information to our understanding of the continuum of
steel freighter development in the Great Lakes.

Within the Isle Royale bulk freighter population the 328~foot
Glenlyon is significant because it is an intermediate vessel both
in terms of size and age which is not otherwise represented. The
vessel falls between the 256-foot wooden steamer Henry Chisholm
(1880) and the larger 532-foot Congdon (1907) and Emperor (1910).
Together with the other bulk freighters around Isle Royale, these
vessels provide a strong series of examples of the development of
Great Lakes freighters.

In the total shipwreck population of Lake Superior there are 8
known steamers which are within the 1,500-2,000 net tonnage range
of Glenlyon (Heden 1966:69-80). Of the eight two steel bulk
freighters are represented in the sample: Ira H. Owen (1,753NT)
and Glenlyon (1,644NT). The 262-foot Owen was an early style
twin-stacked steel steamer built in 1887. The vessel foundered in
heavy seas near Quter Island and was never found. The 328-foot
Glenlyon, a single-stacked steel steamer, rests within Isle Royale

National Park, and is the only known remaining example of this
size and class of vessel in Lake Superior available for study.
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The other vessel classes present in the sample are four wooden
bulk steamers, one steel package freighter and one whaleback
freighter.
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